## Development of molecular tools to study *Daphnia* - parasite dynamics

Dissertation der Fakultät für Biologie der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Jakub Rusek



Diese Dissertation wurde angefertigt unter der Leitung von Prof. Dr. Justyna Wolinska am Department Biologie II an der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. John Parsch Tag der Abgabe: 26.7.2016 Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 21.10.2016

## Table of Contents

1. 1. Searching for a model system to enable the study of host-parasite interactions in the field and	in the
laboratory	8
1. 1. 1. Daphnia as a model host	9
1. 1. 2. Daphnia longispina species complex as a model (host-parasite) system	10
1. 1. 2. 1. Microsporidia	11
1. 1. 2. 2. Caullerya mesnili	13
1. 2. Tools to study dynamics in the Daphnia-parasite system	14
1. 2. 1. Host genotyping	14
1.2.1.1. Available markers for genotyping of D. longispina species complex	14
1. 2. 1. 2. Molecular exploration of host historical samples	15
1.2.2. Parasite genotyping	15
1. 2. 3. Bioinformatics tools to analyze next-generation-sequencing data	16
1. 3. Outline of the thesis	16
5. 1. Summary of the thesis	22
5. 1. 1. SNP-based markers for genotyping D. longispina species complex	
5. 1. 2. Molecular and bioinformatic pipeline to study parasite genetic diversity	
5. 1. 3. Genetic diversity of microsporidia	
5.2. Future directions	27
5.2.1 Access to historical samples and the possibility to perform long-term studies	
5.2.2. Host-parasite dynamics	
5.2.3. Role of variable environments on hosts and parasite dynamics	

## Abstract

Evolutionary dynamics of hosts and their parasites are complex processes. In order to study these processes on genotype level, reliable molecular tools have to be developed. The goal of this thesis was to develop such tools for freshwater crustaceans - Daphnia longispina species complex and its parasites. On one hand, from the host side - an interspecific hybridization plays an important role. For tracing community dynamics and reticulate evolution in such a hybrid species complex, long-term comparative studies of natural populations are necessary. In order to conduct such a study, it is essential to access historical samples. These samples are usually suffering from low DNA quality due to the preservation chemical such as formaldehyde or denaturated ethanol, therefore traditional genotyping through length-based markers (such as microsatellites or allozymes) proved to be insufficient. For circumventing these issues, SNP- based markers were developed. Based on transcriptome data of one species belonging to the complex, it was possible to amplify and sequence several unlinked loci, which were then scanned for species-specific SNPs. Altogether 11 loci distinguishing all three species of the complex and their hybrids were developed and incorporated into PCR-RFLP assay. By comparing the taxon assignment from microsatellite and SNP data, there was found nearly perfect concordance. Finally, the genotyping method was successfully tested on samples dating back to the year 1960. On the other hand, parasite genetic studies are much more limited, in terms of availability of molecular markers. Only handful of parasites allows their cultivation under laboratory conditions inside the hosts. Even then, their disproportional amount of DNA compared to hosts and additional presence of other organisms present in media is forcing to rely on the traditional markers such as internal transcribed spacer (ITS). The traditional method of obtaining sequences to access the diversity (Sanger sequencing preceded by cloning – due to high intragenomic variation of this region) is becoming inefficient due to its high costs in terms of funds and time. Therefore, there was developed a molecular pipeline able to produce and process larger amount of sequence data with more accurate processing, specifically using a next-generation-sequencing platform (454). Afterwards a new bioinformatic pipeline QRS (quantification of representative sequences) was developed, inferring the representative sequences from the next generation sequencing (NGS) data sets (based on

neighbor joining or statistical parsimony) and calculating their frequencies. Verification of the method was done by comparing the dataset with the previous study of population structure of *Daphnia* parasite *Caullerya mesnili* based on cloning and Sanger sequencing. Pipelines were then used for accessing genetic diversity of the two parasite microsporidian species (*Berwaldia* and MIC1) commonly infecting *Daphnia longispina* complex in Central Europe. Specifically, the patterns of geographic population structure, intraspecific genetic variation, and the recombination events were examined, which are necessary for better characterization of the biology of these parasites. The limited geographical variation that was observed in *Berwaldia* and the different lake origin of recombinant and parental sequences supports usage of a mobile secondary host hypothesis during the life cycle of this species. Similarly MIC1 seems to have a secondary host, however the secondary hosts of both parasites likely differ and the *Berwaldia*`s one is assumed to have a higher mobility than the one transmitting MIC1.

## Zusammenfassung

Die evolutionäre Dynamik von Wirtsarten und ihren Parasiten beinhaltet komplexe Prozesse. Zur Untersuchung dieser Prozesse auf der Ebene des Genotyps ist die Entwicklung zuverlässiger molekularer Werkzeuge notwendig. Das Ziel der vorliegenden Arbeit war die Entwicklung solcher Werkzeuge für den Daphnia longispina-Artenkomplex (Süßwasser-Crustaceen) und seine Parasiten. Einerseits spielt auf Seiten des Wirts interspezifische Hybridisierung eine große Rolle. Um die Dynamik der Artengemeinschaft sowie die verästelte Evolution innerhalb eines solchen Hybridartenkomplexes nachzuvollziehen, sind vergleichende Langzeitstudien natürlicher Populationen notwendig. Zur Durchführung einer solchen Studie ist die Einbeziehung historischer Proben essentiell. Diese Proben haben üblicherweise den Nachteil einer niedrigen DNA-Qualität durch Konservierungsmittel wie Formaldehyd oder vergällter Ethanol. Daher erwiesen sich traditionelle Methoden zur Genotypisierung mittels längenbasierter Marker wie Mikrosatelliten oder Allozyme als unzureichend. Aus diesem Grund wurden SNP-basierte Marker entwickelt. Basierend auf Transkriptomdaten einer Art aus dem Daphnia longispina-Artenkomplex konnten mehrere ungekoppelte Loci amplifiziert, sequenziert und nach artspezifischen SNPs durchsucht werden. Insgesamt wurden 11 SNP-Marker entwickelt, die alle drei Arten und ihre Hybriden unterscheiden und mit Hilfe eines PCR-RFLP-Tests untersucht wurden. Beim Vergleich der Taxonzuordnung von Mikrosatellitenund SNP-Daten wurde annähernd perfekte Übereinstimmung gefunden. Schlussendlich konnte die Genotypisierungsmethode erfolgreich angewendet werden auf Proben, die aus dem Jahr 1960 stammen. Andererseits sind Studien zur Parasitengenetik viel beschränkter in Hinblick auf die Verfügbarkeit molekularer Marker. Nur wenige Parasiten können unter Laborbedingungen in den Wirtsorganismen kultiviert werden. Außerdem lässt die unverhältnismäßig kleine DNA-Menge der Parasiten im Vergleich zum Wirt und die Anwesenheit anderer Organismen im Kulturmedium wenig Alternativen zur Verwendung traditioneller Marker wie ITS (interne transkribierte Spacer). Die traditionelle Methode, Sequenzdaten zur Beurteilung der Diversität zu erhalten (Sanger-Sequenzierung gefolgt von Klonierung wegen der hohen intragenomischen Variation dieser Region) ist mittlerweile ineffizient durch den hohen finanziellen und zeitlichen Aufwand. Daher wurde eine molekulare Pipeline entwickelt, um größere Datenmengen zu produzieren und fehlerfreier zu verarbeiten unter

Verwendung einer Next Generation Sequencing-Plattform (454). Anschließend wurde eine neuartige bioinformatische Pipeline ,QRS' (Quantification of Representative Sequences, Quantifizierung Repräsentativer Sequenzen) entwickelt, die mithilfe von Neighbor Joining- und Parsimony-Ansätzen repräsentative Sequenzen aus Next Generation Sequencing (NGS)-Datensätzen ermittelt und deren Frequenzen berechnet. Die Methode wurde verifiziert durch den Vergleich des Datensatzes mit einer vorangegangenen Studie zur Populationsstruktur des Daphnia-Parasiten Caullerya mesnili, die auf Klonierung und Sanger-Sequenzierung basierte. Die Pipelines wurden anschließend zur Untersuchung der genetischen Diversität zweier parasitärer Mikrosporidienarten (Berwaldia und MIC1) verwendet, die häufig den Daphnia longispina-Komplex in Zentraleuropa infizieren. Besonders die Muster geografischer Populationsstruktur, intraspezifische genetische Variation und Rekombinationsereignisse wurden untersucht, da sie eine bessere Charakterisierung der Parasitenbiologie ermöglichen. Die bei Berwaldia beobachtete begrenzte geografische Variation und die Herkunft der rekombinanten und parentalen Sequenzen aus unterschiedlichen Seen unterstützt die Hypothese eines sekundären mobilen Wirts im Lebenszyklus dieser Art. Ebenso scheint MIC1 einen sekundären Wirt zu haben. Allerdings unterscheiden sich die sekundären Wirte der beiden Parasiten wahrscheinlich, wobei derjenige von Berwaldia vermutlich eine höhere Mobilität aufweist als der Wirt, der MIC1 überträgt.

## 1. Introduction

### 1. 1. Searching for a model system to enable the study of hostparasite interactions in the field and in the laboratory

Parasites are ubiquitous in nature (Lafferty *et al.*, 2006, Poulin, 2011) and they seem to affect hosts from all taxa. They cause one of the strongest reciprocal selection pressure in nature leading to the co-evolution of hosts and themselves. Parasites reduce fitness of hosts and host defense systems are counteracting parasites or, in other words, co-evolution of host resistance and parasite virulence occurs. These relationships are very dynamic, many of which were discovered by studying *Escherichia coli* (e. g. Kashiwagi and Yomo, 2011, Meyer *et al.*, 2012) or *Pseudomonas fluorescens* (e. g. Gómez and Buckling, 2011, Betts *et al.*, 2014) with their respective bacteriophages, under laboratory settings. Laboratory conditions reduce the complexity of biological systems and simplify the environment under which the biological interactions occur. However, in order to fully understand host-parasite dynamics, both laboratory as well as field studies are needed. Therefore, a host-parasite model system which allows for both types of studies is required.

Several animal hosts with their parasites have been used so far as such model systems. The fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* is the most extensively studied animal model system in general, including host-parasite interactions (Starr and Cline, 2002, Veneti *et al.*, 2004). For *Drosophila*, powerful genetic tools are available, including the sequenced genome (Adams *et al.*, 2000), which is often lacking in other animal hosts. Moreover, it can be infected with a wide range of parasites such as bacteria, viruses, protozoans and fungi (reviewed in Keebaugh and Schlenke, 2014). Nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* offers similar advantages due to the extensive knowledge of its genetics (Brenner, 1974), resulting from its usage as a model system in other biological fields such as neural development (Schafer, 2005) and apoptosis (Peden *et al.*, 2008). *Caenorhabditis elegans* together with its parasites: *Bacillus thuringiensis* and *Serratia marcescens*, makes a good model system to study the influence of antagonistic coevolution on parasite genetic diversity, gene

exchange, and selection for biparental sex (Morran *et al.*, 2011, Gibson *et al.*, 2015, Schulte *et al.*, 2013).

Various snail species (e.g. *Potamopyrgus antipodarum, Littorina* sp.), and their parasitic castrating trematodes (e.g. *Microphallus* sp.) constitute another important model system because of the great variation in host reproductive strategies (i.e. coexistence of sexual and asexual lineages). Thus, these systems are used for studies of evolution and maintenance of sexual reproduction (Keogh *et al.*, 2015, Vergara *et al.*, 2014, King *et al.*, 2009).

The red flour beetle, *Tribolium castaneum* – microsporidium *Parnosema whitei*, is another interesting system enabling to study the evolution of host resistance and trade-offs between virulence and transmission potential. The underlying theory is that an increase in transmission rate should come at a cost in terms of duration of infection (Massad, 1987). Unlike a majority of the other systems, this one allows for the transmissive stages of these spore-forming parasites to persist in the environment, which may have an important influence on the outcome of evolutionary dynamics (Rafaluk *et al.*, 2015, Kerstes *et al.*, 2012).

#### 1. 1. 1. Daphnia as a model host

*Daphnia* and its parasites is a frequently used model particularly suitable to study host-parasite epidemiological, evolutionary, and genetic interactions. *Daphnia* are small planktonic freshwater crustaceans inhabiting freshwater bodies around the world. *Daphnia* reproduce mainly (under most conditions) asexually via apomictic parthenogenesis, producing offspring (daughters) genetically identical to their mother. Parthenogenetic reproduction system allows for individuals from the field to be maintained under laboratory conditions as clonal lineages. Consequently, by conducting experimental surveys (different treatments) with organisms that belong to the same clone, one could better control for the separation of genetic and non-genetic effects (e.g. environment). At the same time, *Daphnia* are also able to reproduce sexually, mainly during harsh conditions. Harsh conditions (e.g. overcrowding, scarcity of food, low temperatures) stimulate production of males and haploid eggs, which are being fertilized and formatted into resting eggs (ephippia). Ephippia are deposited in the lake sediment and they remain hatchable for decades (Frisch *et al.*, 2014, Brendonck and De Meester, 2003). When different *Daphnia* species cross, this allows for

interspecific hybridization (e. g. Keller *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, it is possible to collect resting eggs from dated sediment cores and hatch them under laboratory conditions (Orsini *et al.*, 2013, Frisch *et al.*, 2014), thus allowing for the evolutionary studies over time.

*Daphnia* is the host of numerous parasites representing diverse taxonomic groups, especially microsporidia, bacteria, and fungi (but also nematodes or cestodes), mainly producing chronic infections (reviewed in Ebert, 2008). An impact of parasites on *Daphnia* population can be significant, especially through affecting host fecundity and survival (Stirnadel and Ebert, 1997), reaching prevalence peaks up to 100% (Lass and Ebert, 2006, Duncan and Little, 2007). Other traits influenced by parasites include reduced adult growth (Ebert, 1994, Lass and Bittner, 2002), parasite-induced host gigantism (Ebert *et al.*, 2004), alternated life cycle (Lass and Ebert, 2006), altered host-predator interactions such as visibility to predators (Duffy *et al.*, 2005), depth selection behavior (Fels *et al.*, 2004) or inducible anti-predator defenses (Yin *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, parasite-induced effects can be enhanced by environmental conditions such as food quality and quantity, temperature, host density, presence and density of competitors, predator cues, and toxins (e.g. Bittner, 2002, Lass and Bittner, 2002, Duffy *et al.*, 2005, Mitchell *et al.*, 2005, Jansen *et al.*, 2011a, 2011b).

A handful of different parasite species with different transmission modes and the possibility of culturing some of them under laboratory conditions, together with the characteristics mentioned above, make *Daphnia*-parasite a convenient system to study host-parasite dynamics. This becomes even more of an importance since publishing the first *Daphnia* genome (Colbourne *et al.*, 2005); *D. magna* and *D. galeata* in prep.) which allows a development of molecular markers and a wide range of research such as QTL (Routtu and Ebert, 2015), or the expression studies (Decaestecker *et al.*, 2011) of *Daphnia* influenced by parasite pressure and environmental factors.

#### 1. 1. 2. Daphnia longispina species complex as a model (host-parasite) system

Several hybrid species complexes have become model systems in evolutionary biology to study the role of interspecific hybridization in speciation and adaptation. Those are for example sunflowers (Rieseberg *et al.*, 2007), irises (Arnold and Meyer, 2006), cichlids (Seehausen *et al.*, 1997) and Darwin's finches (Grant and Grant, 1996). The specific reproductive system of *Daphnia* determines it to be one of them. Long-term maintenance of hybrid populations has been frequently described in the *D. longispina* complex in Europe, involving a number of species such as *D. cucullata*, *D. galeata* and *D. longispina* (e. g. Schwenk and Spaak, 1997, Keller *et al.*, 2008, Petrusek *et al.*, 2008), producing several types of hybrids among themselves.

Daphnia longispina complex system is a host of numerous parasites. They significantly differ in the strength of selection pressure that they can exert (Lohr et al., 2010), and the level of specialization on host species (Wolinska et al., 2007) or temporal and spatial prevalence. Specifically, a variation in prevalence between seasons as well as a spatial variation were observed among, and within different *Daphnia* populations (Wolinska et al., 2011a). The parasites of D. *longispina* complex belong to the whole range of taxa. Undefined bacteria grow in the body cavity of their host and strongly increase host opacity and reduce Daphnia's fecundity (Bittner, 2001, Wolinska et al., 2007). Metschnikowia bicuspidata (Metschnikoff, 1884) is an endoparasitic horizontally transmitted yeast Ascomycete (Endomycetales), producing needle-like ascospores penetrating *Daphnia*'s gut walls when ingesting with food. After germination in the hemolymph it grows inside the host until the entire cavity is filled with the spores, reducing host's fecundity (Lohr et al., 2010). Oomycete parasites appear to be generalist parasites infecting the brood pouch or the entire body cavity, and filling them with hypha-like structures (Wolinska et al., 2008). Other important parasites of the D. longispina complex on which was this study focused are Microsporidia and Ichthyosporean Caullerya mesnilli. These parasites are described more in detail in the next two chapters.

#### 1. 1. 2. 1. Microsporidia

Microsporidia are obligate intracellular parasites, forming the largest group of parasites infecting *Daphnia* (Ebert, 2005). As a group they are clearly distinguished from other eukaryotes, being the most divergent basal fungi clades (Capella-Gutiérrez *et al.*, 2012). Recently, microsporidia of *Daphnia* are becoming an important model system (Ebert, 2008, Stollewerk, 2010), also due to their complex life cycles (Refardt *et al.*, 2008, Weigl *et al.*, 2012). Microsporidia are usually tissue specific (ovaries, fat cells, hypodermis, gut) with spore size depending upon culture conditions (e.g., smaller spores were observed at lower temperatures; Friedrich *et al.*, 1996). The transmission

mode of this group of parasites is highly variable, also depending on the type of infection (e.g. gut infections are mainly transmitted horizontally - *Glugoides intestinalis* (Ebert, 1995), ovary infection vertically - *Flabelliforma magnivora* (Larsson *et al.*, 1998)).

The most abundant microsporidia parasites infecting *Daphnia longispina* species complex are *Berwaldia schaefernai* (Jírovec, 1937) and an unidentified microsporidium MIC1 (Wolinska *et al.*, 2009), frequently reported to occur in central Europe (Weigl *et al.*, 2012). Their infections are specific for body cavity tissue of *Daphnia*. Taxonomically, they are closely related to other microsporidian parasites infecting other species of *Daphnia* such as *Gurleya daphnidae – D. pulex*, *Binucleata daphnidae – D. magna, Larssonia obtusa – D. pulex* (taxonomy reviewed in Weigl *et al.*, 2012). There is no direct evidence about the transmission mode of *Berwaldia* and MIC1; however, the unsuccessful attempts to culture them in the laboratory and their close taxonomic relation with taxa infecting copepods transmitted by larval and adult mosquitoes (Vossbrinck *et al.*, 2004) suggests that they also have indirect transmission mode with a mobile vector.

#### 1. 1. 2. 2. Caullerya mesnili

*Caullerya mesnili* is a protozoan parasite of *Daphnia*, recently classified into Ichthyosporea (Lohr *et al.*, 2010). *Caullerya mesnilli* is a common parasite throughout communities of the *D. longispina* species complex in permanent European lakes, where they infect all of the paternal species and hybrids, reaching prevalence up to 40% (Wolinska *et al.*, 2007). It forms clusters of spores in the gut epithelium of the host, causing severe harm. *Caullerya* infected hosts have shortened life-span, smaller body size and significantly reduced fecundity (e.g. number of eggs reduced by 95% compared to not infected hosts; Wolinska *et al.*, 2006, 2007). Infection is transmitted horizontally – the spores released from one *Daphnia* are being up taken by another individual together with food - and then spread rapidly throughout the gut (Lohr *et al.*, 2010).

#### 1. 2. Tools to study dynamics in the Daphnia-parasite system

#### 1. 2. 1. Host genotyping

#### 1. 2. 1. 1. Available markers for genotyping of D. longispina species complex

Daphnia longispina species complex has already available several marker systems for identification parental and hybrid species. Historically the oldest was the genotyping via allozymes (e. g. Wolf and Mort, 1986, Haag et al., 2005, Seda et al., 2007). However, allozyme markers are resource-demanding in terms of required sample quantity and quality (Taylor et al., 1996, Gießler, 1997). When applied on old, low DNA quality samples, the allozyme markers are insufficient and additionally as only a limited number of loci can be genotyped they are unable to distinguish different hybrid classes. Most of the studies were able to score four loci (e. g. Spaak, 1996, Wolinska et al., 2006, Petrusek et al., 2013), from which only two were species specific (Wolf and Mort, 1986, Gießler, 1997). Two internal transcribed spacers (ITS) were the first nuclear markers (Billiones et al., 2004, Taylor et al., 2005, Petrusek et al., 2008) within D. longispina complex. This marker did not provide the possibility of distinguishing between all the species. The main problem though is that single, diploid marker can differentiate only F1 hybrids, whereas the detection of more complex hybrid classes have become impossible (Giessler and Englbrecht, 2009). Relatively recently developed microsatellites (Brede et al., 2006) are a more powerful genotyping system being used as a method of choice for parental and hybrid species identification based on information for up to 15 loci (e. g. Thielsch et al., 2009, Brede et al., 2009, Yin et al., 2010). However, as the taxon identification is based on the joint information from allele frequencies at all loci (Selkoe and Toonen, 2006, Dlouha et al., 2010) and the alleles are lengthbased, it makes them rather unsuitable when attempting to genotype DNA samples of limited quality.

#### 1. 2. 1. 2. Molecular exploration of host historical samples

In order to study the population and community dynamics among hosts in *D. longispina* species complex, long-term surveys of natural populations are absolutely essential. One source of the historical samples are ephippia isolated from dated sediment cores (Duffy *et al.*, 2000, Cousyn *et al.*, 2001, Reid *et al.*, 2002, Geerts *et al.*, 2015). However, because ephippial eggs are produced sexually, such samples do not represent the actual lake population and there is a bias of sexual reproduction and hatching success rate towards pure (parental) species (Keller and Spaak, 2004). Reconstruction of actual populations is theoretically possible from sample archives. In the past, *Daphnia* samples (collected as net-tow material) were usually preserved in formaldehyde (or denaturated ethanol) which causes severe damages to the DNA, mainly fragmentation and cross-linking of the DNA molecules (thus blocking the accession for the enzymes). Consequently, DNA quality suffers and assays for genotyping are significantly limited. Therefore the development of new methods and tools, especially concerning improved DNA extraction from these samples and ways to genotype them, are essential for these kind of evolutionary studies.

#### **1.2.2. Parasite genotyping**

In contrast to host genotyping, parasite genetic studies are much more limited, especially in terms of availability of reliable molecular markers. Their development is being stunted by the impossibility of culturing parasites without the host. Therefore, when attempting to isolate parasite DNA, its amount is usually disproportionally low compared to host DNA, but also contaminated by DNA of other organisms found in cultivation media such as algae and bacteria. Commonly used markers are internal transcribed spacers (ITS), regions located between rRNA genes coding the subunits. Due to their multicopy nature (Hershkovitz and Lewis, 1996) it is possible to amplify them even in low DNA concentration samples. Regarding the parasites of the *Daphnia longispina* complex, these are the only available parasite markers to study intraspecific genetic diversity (Wolinska *et al.*, 2011b, Giessler and Wolinska, 2013).

#### 1. 2. 3. Bioinformatics tools to analyze next-generation-sequencing data

Traditional platforms for genomic studies (e.g. Sanger sequencing) are being replaced by faster and lower-cost Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) technologies producing large quantities of data enabling to understand links between observed diversity with ecological functions (Huber *et al.*, 2007, Edgcomb *et al.*, 2011, Kautz *et al.*, 2013). Evolutionary studies examining changes of populations in time and space require additional reliable ways of genotype quantification, especially in the frame of bioinformatic analysis. That is challenging due to several types of artificial errors and artefacts produced by NGS methods (e.g. platform, homopolymer and indel misinterpretations (Margulies *et al.*, 2005) by 454 pyrosequencing or systematic base-calling biases (Erlich *et al.*, 2008, Rougemont *et al.*, 2008, Renaud *et al.*, 2013) by Illumina). Therefore the most demanding task in developing new bioinformatic tools performing such analyses is to identify the true alleles (natural variants present in a population or organism) and distinguish them from the variants resulting from methodological errors, when estimating their frequency.

#### **1.3. Outline of the thesis**

The aim of this PhD project was to extend our understanding of the evolutionary dynamics firstly within the hosts, and secondly between the host and parasites, with particular focus on changes over time. Such ambitious studies suffer from the lack of reliable and precise tools, due to the nature of the examined samples (e.g. their quality), poor genomic knowledge of parasites (thus, limited availability of markers) and character of produced data (e.g. NGS output). This thesis aims to tackle these challenges and develop such molecular tools to address evolutionary questions.

In Chapter 2, I tackled the challenges related to a need of following host dynamics over time. For conducting long-term evolutionary studies, it is essential to access historically archived samples suffering from low quality and damaged DNA. There were two main issues to be solved, which are addressed in Chapter 2. The first challenge was to develop and optimize DNA extraction protocol from such samples. Secondly, I needed to develop reliable molecular markers that are

able to distinguish between pure species and different classes of hybrids of the *D. longispina* complex. Since it was only possible to extract DNA of limited quality, previously developed methods of classification turned out to be insufficient. The method of choice was to develop the SNP (single nucleotide polymorphism) based markers which offer several advantages. The most important one is that each nucleotide base can be unambiguously identified, allowing addressing identical alleles in different studies. Moreover, as the detection of only one base at a given site is needed, short DNA fragments are sufficient to target the genomic region of interest, and at the same time even low quality DNA samples can be accessed. I compared transcripts of *D. galeata*, the only available sequence data of *D. longispina* species complex, with previously published genome of *D. pulex*, in order to identify putatively unlinked loci which were then screened for presence of species specific SNPs. Suitable SNPs were afterwards integrated into PCR-RFLP (polymerase chain reaction – restriction fragment length polymorphism) assay and their concordance with other genotyping markers was tested on a dataset of field samples originating from across the Europe, previously identified by other classification methods. Finally, the markers were tested to access historical formaldehyde samples dating back to the year 1960.

Chapter 3 tackles the development of new tools for studying genetic diversity of parasites. An internal transcribed spacer is, in most cases, the only available nuclear marker for studies of nonmodel parasites or microorganisms (Nilsson et al., 2008). The traditional method of obtaining sequences to access the diversity (Sanger sequencing preceded by cloning - due to high intragenomic variation of this region) is becoming inefficient due to its high costs in terms of funds and time. I aimed to develop a molecular pipeline able to produce and process larger amount of sequence data with more accurate processing; i.e. using a next-generation-sequencing platform (454). To verify the method we used the same C. mesnili DNA samples analyzed in the previous study (Wolinska et al., 2014) which were genotyped by Sanger sequencing. Thus, NGS and Sanger sequencing generated data were compared in this chapter. First I designed primers that amplify shorter fragment of ITS1 region than the ones already optimized and published in a previous study, due to 454 pyrosequencing limitations (reliable sequence length read). Based on the alignment from the previous study (Wolinska et al., 2014), I targeted the most conserved regions, taking into account the machine capacity and a need of preserving of variable regions to be amplified by these primers. Then I optimized and verified the primer specificity, including their adapters (from the 454 Standard MID Set; Roche/454 Life Sciences). Each sample carried their unique combination

of adapters in order to separate them after sequencing. After generating the data, a co-author of Chapter 3, Enrique Gonzalez-Tortuero, developed a new bioinformatic pipeline (Quantification of Representative Sequences; QRS) that pools similar sequence variants and estimates their frequencies in NGS data sets from populations or communities. Pooling similar sequences was done in order to preserve the maximum of data, and to correct for the artificial errors at the same time. Then it was tested whether the estimated frequency of representative sequences generated by 454 amplicon sequencing differs significantly from that obtained by Sanger sequencing of cloned PCR products.

Once the molecular and bioinformatic pipelines were developed, we were able to use them for an actual study of intraspecific parasite sequence variation. In Chapter 4, we aimed to understand the transmission mode of the two most common microsporidians infecting Daphnia communities inhabiting large lakes and reservoirs in Central Europe, classified in the literature as Berwaldia schaefernai (Vávra and Larsson, 1994) and as the microsporidium MIC1 (Wolinska et al., 2009), by examining their population structure. For amplification of parasite ITS regions I used the core primer sequences form previous study (Wolinska et al., 2009), fused with the adapters (from the 454 Standard MID Set; Roche/454 Life Sciences). I optimized PCR reaction, taking into account additional nucleotides of adapters and diverse concentration of DNA samples. Then I carried on the amplification of 115 microsporidia-infected Daphnia, each labeled with unique combination of the adapters. We sequenced ITS region of both parasites originating from D. longispina samples from seven drinking water reservoirs in Czech Republic on 454 pyrosequencing platform and processed the data with QRS pipeline (as developed in Chapter 3). The patterns of geographic population structure, intraspecific genetic variation, and recombination events of the ITS1 sequence were compared between Berwaldia and MIC1, in order to better characterize the biology of these species.

The thesis concludes with Chapter 5, providing a general discussion and suggestions for future research.

### 2. New possibilities arise for studies of hybridization: SNP-based markers for the multi-species *Daphnia longispina* complex derived from transcriptome data

Jakub Rusek, Gokce B. Ayan, Patrick Turko, Christoph Tellenbach, Sabine Giessler, Piet Spaak, Justyna Wolinska

(2015)

Journal of Plankton Research (2015) 37 (3): 626-635

doi: 10.1093/plankt/fbv028

# 3. The Quantification of Representative Sequences pipeline for amplicon sequencing: case study on within-population ITS1 sequence variation in a microparasite infecting *Daphnia*

Enrique Gonzalez-Tortuero, Jakub Rusek, Adam Petrusek, Sabine Gießler, Dimitrios Lyras, Sonja Grath, F. Castro-Monzon, Justyna. Wolinska

(2015)

Molecular Ecology Resources (2015) 15 (6): 1385–1395

doi: 10.1111/1755-0998.12396

## 4. Genetic diversity of two *Daphnia*-infecting microsporidian parasites, based on sequence variation in the internal transcribed spacer region

Enrique González-Tortuero, Jakub Rusek, Inbar Maayan, Adam Petrusek, Lubomír Piálek, Stefan Laurent, Justyna Wolinska

(2016)

Parasites & Vectors (2016) 9:293

doi: 10.1186/s13071-016-1584-4

## 5. Discussion

#### 5. 1. Summary of the thesis

This PhD project aimed at developing new molecular techniques and tools which would allow for better understanding of dynamics within model host-parasite system -D. *longispina* species complex together with two groups of parasites (microsporidia and ichthyosporea), and ideally, making it possible to track host-parasite dynamics over time.

#### 5. 1. 1. SNP-based markers for genotyping D. longispina species complex

Despite the fact that *D. longispina* species complex features a rather wide range of classification methods (e.g. allozymes, microsatellites), it turned out that none of them could be used when accessing historical formaldehyde-preserved samples necessary for long-term evolutionary studies. Therefore, in Chapter 2, I aimed to resolve this issue by developing a set of completely new method based on SNPs which would allow distinguishing between pure (parental) species and different classes of their hybrids. As a detection of only one nucleotide is needed, the requirements for DNA quality (e.g. formaldehyde-preserved samples) is much lower. Because SNPs are biallelic markers, a single SNP site does not allow for direct discrimination among more than two species. Therefore I selected short fragments with two complementary informative SNP-sites. The set of eleven short fragments (SNP-based markers) developed in this study enabled reliable discrimination among three species of the *D. longispina* complex and their hybrids. This taxon assignment was concordant with other molecular markers; there was almost a perfect correspondence between microsatellite- and SNP-based marker assignments. The gene loci, with species-specific SNP-based markers developed here, are distributed over multiple chromosomes that I achieved through the mapping against the annotated genome of D. pulex, which suggests their putative linkage independence. Because of the high abundance of SNPs in a genome and their unambiguous nature, the statistical power to resolve hybrid and parental species is much higher compared to allozymes or microsatellites.

We have further demonstrated that old and poorly-preserved DNA samples spanning several decades can be successfully genotyped using short amplicons (and newly developed DNA extraction method from formaldehyde). This might allow for studies of hybridization over time. The field population samples preserved in formaldehyde provide better knowledge about the *Daphnia* community composition than the dormant egg banks from the sediment, which represent only the sexually active part of the population (e.g. Keller and Spaak, 2004). I showed that a relatively small set of biallelic SNPs provides sufficient information for obtaining concordant results in taxon assignment compared with microsatellites and other markers. This will make studies of long-term impact of various environmental factors (e. g. chemicals, parasite pressure, temperature) on biodiversity changes at community and population levels now possible.

#### 5. 1. 2. Molecular and bioinformatic pipeline to study parasite genetic diversity

In Chapter 3, the aim was to test a new approach to access the genetic diversity of the parasites, replacing traditional, time and resources costly Sanger sequencing. The method of choice was the 454 pyrosequencing, due to the possibility of obtaining longer sequence reads at the time of method development. First, I designed and optimized a new set of fusion primers amplifying ITS1. According to alignments from the previous study (Wolinska *et al.*, 2014), I aimed to develop primers amplifying a shorter region, and at the same time preserving the maximum of variable sites within the amplicon. Then, I amplified 16 samples (each representing one lake) of the ichthyosporean *Caullerya mesnili*, each one carrying a unique molecular identificator. Afterwards a new bioinformatic pipeline QRS (quantification of representative sequences) was developed, inferring the representative sequences from the next generation sequencing (NGS) data sets (based on neighbor joining or statistical parsimony) and calculating their frequencies (quantification of the sequence variants is important for tracing host-parasite dynamics). To verify the method, we compared data from 454 amplicon sequencing with data from Sanger sequencing of cloned ITS1 amplicons using QRS pipeline.

The frequencies of representative ITS1 sequences derived from both data sets were similar, with only one significant difference across the 16 studied cases. 454 pyrosequencing detected some

additional rare representative sequences what is caused by a higher sampling power of the method (Huse *et al.*, 2007, Kröber *et al.*, 2009, Liang *et al.*, 2011). On the other hand, surprisingly, some rare sequences were detected also only by the Sanger sequencing, and missed by 454 pyrosequencing. This fact might be caused by poor sensitivity of the 454 pyrosequencing method for certain taxa, including the frequent ones (Tedersoo *et al.*, 2010, Kauserud *et al.*, 2012), or due to differences between primers used in both methods. Despite the maximum effort to place the primers in the most conserved regions, these were still partly polymorphic, and thus it is possible to miss certain variants due to this reason.

We showed that the Sanger sequencing can be replaced by the faster, and cheaper, 454 pyrosequencing. This was proved by re-analyzing the ITS1 region of *Caullerya mesnili* from the previous study and obtaining the same results. Specifically, same representative sequences were recovered at similar frequencies, despite the differences between the two sequencing platforms and associated potential methodological errors. The molecular and bioinformatic pipelines can be further used for studies requiring the insights into genetic diversity and the quantification of the sequence variants (e.g. various strains of parasites) when studying evolutionary dynamics of any non-model species. Hence, in Chapter 4 we used the developed here pipelines for such a study.

#### 5. 1. 3. Genetic diversity of microsporidia

The molecular and bioinformatics methods developed in Chapter 3 (i.e. for high throughput analysis of the diversity and the quantification of the ITS sequences) were used in an ecological study addressed in Chapter 4. Thus, we wanted to access genetic diversity of the two microsporidian species commonly infecting cladocerans of the *Daphnia longispina* complex in Central Europe. More specifically, we aimed to have a closer look into the patterns of geographic population structure, intraspecific genetic variation, and the recombination events, all of which are necessary to better characterize the biology of these parasites. The available limited data on low among-population variation of *Berwaldia* supports the hypothesis of this parasite being spread by a highly mobile secondary vector (Wolinska *et al.*, 2011b). This transmission mode might be able to effectively homogenize the parasite infecting immobile or asocial hosts (reviewed in Huyse *et al.*, 2005). For MIC1, no such information about a transmission mode was available.

Unlike the previous study (Chapter 3), newly developed protocols allowed to access genetic diversity on an individual level (whereas in Chapter 3, all ten *Caullerya* infected *Daphnia* per lake were pooled before DNA extraction). More specifically, ITS1 region of 87 *Daphnia* infected with *Berwaldia* (sampled across six water reservoirs), and 28 *Daphnia* infected with the microsporidium MIC1 (sampled from two reservoirs) was amplified with parasite-specific primers and sequenced. For each sample I provided a unique combination of molecular identificators, which allowed for sequencing of all samples in a single run, and their separation afterwards. Hence, the analyses could be done at an individual level, instead of per lake.

The limited geographical variation that was observed in *Berwaldia* and the different lake origin of recombinant and parental sequences supports usage of a mobile secondary host hypothesis during the life cycle of this species (Wolinska *et al.*, 2011b). Close phylogenetical relatedness of MIC1 and genus *Gurleya* (Weigl *et al.*, 2012) suggests the transmission through a secondary host (Voronin, 1996), also for MIC1 species. However, the observed differences in genetic structure between studied MIC1 and *Berwaldia* populations might imply a decrease in spreading efficiency through a secondary host for MIC1, compared to *Berwaldia*. In other words, the secondary hosts of both parasites likely differ and the *Berwaldia*`s one is assumed to have a higher mobility than

the one transmitting MIC1. Nevertheless, increased genetic variability of the parasite population might also be caused by other variables, especially effective population size (Huyse *et al.*, 2005).

Additionally, in this study, phylogenetic analysis was conducted and the results were compared with the published trees (Vossbrinck *et al.*, 2004, Wolinska *et al.*, 2009, Weigl *et al.*, 2012) which were based on the small subunit ribosomal DNA. This was done in order to examine whether the recombination events in the ITS region of *Berwaldia* have an effect on tree topology (Posada and Crandall, 2002), as it has been seen in other microsporidian species like *Vairimorpha/Nosema* (Choi *et al.*, 2011). Phylogenetic trees based on both markers were consistent with each other, and the positioning of both *Berwaldia* and MIC1 supports the hypothesis of using more than one host during their life cycle.

#### 5.2. Future directions

#### 5.2.1 Access to historical samples and the possibility to perform long-term studies

In order to study the significance of hybridization events over time, reliable methods for detecting species, hybrids, and backcrosses are needed. I addressed this issue in Chapter 2 where I developed a completely new classification method based on SNP markers (eleven SNP-based markers in total). I showed that this method enables reliable discrimination among three species of the D. longispina complex and their hybrids. SNP-based genotyping has been concordant with other molecular markers. Moreover, I achieved a higher statistical power in resolving hybrid and parental species, hence this method is much more precise compared to allozymes or microsatellites. Further, Chapter 2 also describes the newly developed protocol for DNA extraction from formaldehyde preserved samples spanning several decades. These two innovations combined together might provide an essential tool for hybridization studies over time. Daphnia seems to be an excellent system for such studies, due to the natural archives of resting stages in lake sediments, and also the availability of old plankton samples stored in limnological collections worldwide; being preserved in the DNA-damaging chemical formaldehyde. The latter samples provide better knowledge about the Daphnia community composition than dormant egg banks from sediment, which represent only the sexually active part of the population (e.g. Keller and Spaak, 2004). I have already demonstrated in Chapter 2 that old and poorly-preserved DNA samples spanning over several decades can be successfully genotyped using short amplicons. Classification based on the eleven SNP-based markers (or their subset) can be facilitated by their multiplexing, both at PCR and at genotyping level. As a method of detection, an ideal method appears to be SNaPshot multiplex based on minisequencing (Huang et al., 2011, Kitpipit et al., 2012), for which the application on Daphnia samples is currently being developed (Turko et al., in prep.). This will make studies of long-term impact of various environmental factors (e. g. chemicals, parasite pressure, temperature) on biodiversity changes at *Daphnia* community and population levels now possible.

In Chapter 2, PCR-RFLP was chosen as a method of SNP detection for community screenings. PCR-RFLP is a simple method, which enables relatively quick and cost-efficient detection of SNPs using equipment common in most laboratories (e.g. Laguerre *et al.*, 1994, Ota *et al.*, 2007, Rusek

*et al.*, 2013). This opens a possibility to study community dynamics for research groups unprivileged by the grade of funding or accessibility to technical facilities, thus fill in the gap of knowledge about the *D. longispina* species complex system from diverse geographical locations.

Additionally, the alignments of sequences from eleven loci revealed numerous intraspecific SNPs, which could be used in future population genetic studies of the *D. longispina* species complex, including low quality samples by providing more accurate estimations compared to microsatellites. It is possible to develop more of such SNP-based markers by a simple application of the here developed pipeline – resequencing of transcriptome. Lastly, a similar strategy could be applied for other non-model species with prior knowledge of transcriptome data only (reviewed in Ekblom and Galindo, 2011).

#### **5.2.2. Host-parasite dynamics**

In Chapter 3, we have developed new molecular and bioinformatic pipelines to analyze sequence variation within populations, as obtained from NGS platforms. Both neighbor joining and statistical parsimony (Templeton *et al.*, 1992) were used as a clustering algorithm and a network approach, respectively, making it useful to identify and quantify representative sequences for a variety of purposes (with possible usage of a big variety of alignment algorithms). In order to verify the pipeline, we reanalyzed DNA samples used in the Sanger sequencing-based study of the *Daphnia* parasite *Caullerya mesnilli* ITS1 region (Wolinska *et al.*, 2014). With QRS, it was possible to identify and characterize variation among closely related populations from the same samples, while obtaining comparable patterns with Sanger sequencing. Specifically, the same representative sequences and associated potential methodological errors.

Several kinds of biological questions can be answered with the tools that have been developed. In case of *Daphnia*, the most interesting seems to be the tracking of changes in the frequencies in natural populations over time, in accordance to parasite-driven negative frequency-dependent selection (NFDS; Brockhurst and Koskella, 2013, Gaba and Ebert, 2009). The concept of the NFDS is that common genotypes of a host will be more likely to become infected by coevolving parasites, in respect to the rare genotypes. Rare host genotypes have then a higher fitness, and

eventually will replace the previously common host genotypes, because they are uninfected. The parasite population genotype frequencies will change accordingly. Specifically, parasite genotypes able to infect previously rare host genotypes will be favored. Because sex is efficient in promoting genetic diversity, NFDS can additionally explain the long-term maintenance of sex in host and parasite populations (reviewed in Lively, 2010). Under the experimental conditions, genotype-bygenotype interactions of both actors have been demonstrated in multiple host-parasite systems (Forsman, 2014, reviewed in Sadd and Schmid-Hempel, 2009). On the other hand, the field studies also show the increased susceptibility of the most common host genotypes to the parasites. That was shown for example in *Daphnia* and its parasites (Decaestecker *et al.*, 2007, Little and Ebert, 1999, Wolinska and Spaak, 2009) and snail Potamopyrgus - trematode Microphallus sp. systems (e.g. Jokela et al., 2009, King et al., 2009). As implied, the previous studies were host-focused, while from the parasite side, measuring such changes in genotype interactions seems to be rather exceptional. With the new available tools (molecular and bioinformatic pipelines) we can examine parasite population genetic structure, which is a crucial component in the analysis of host-parasite coevolution. The pipelines were already successfully applied for such a survey (González-Tortuero et al., 2016). In this study, the population dynamics and host-genotype specificity of the C mesnili were analysed based on the observed sequence variation in the first internal transcribed spacer (ITS1) of the ribosomal DNA.

#### 5.2.3. Role of variable environments on hosts and parasite dynamics

By applying the here developed tools, possible areas of research can expand one step further. The focus of research can involve not only within and between host or parasite dynamics per se, but also to examine the role of additional (environmental) factors influencing these dynamics. This can be done by looking at the changes in genotype frequencies of the players involved over the changing environmental factors.

Species can rapidly expand their ecological tolerance and geographical range. Moreover, hybridization between species can provide the genetic variation necessary for natural selection to produce a new adaptive norm (Lewontin and Birch, 1966). The regulation of hybrid zones seems to be greatly influenced by environmental (exogenous) selection which might be changing in short or long-term ecological time frames (Arnold, 1997, Fitzpatrick and Shaffer, 2004, Culumber *et al.*,

2011). It is quite likely that temporal changes are only detectable over longer periods than covered by typical studies (Carson *et al.*, 2012). Therefore it is crucial to conduct long-term evolutionary studies, for which it will be necessary to access the archived samples. Several studies already suggest that consideration of spatio-temporal dynamics in hybrid zones can provide better understanding of the dynamics of hybridization (Grant and Grant, 1993, Grant *et al.*, 2004, Gee, 2004) and predicting the long-term impact of various environmental factors on community changes.

Similarly, the environmental factors can have a significant influence on the parasite itself, as well as on the co-evolutionary dynamics (reviewed in Wolinska and King, 2009). Temperature, for example, can strongly influence the parasite and host physiology (Murdock *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, ambient temperature does have an influence also on host resistance and parasite virulence as shown in *D. magna* (Mitchell *et al.*, 2005). Host nutrition can push these dynamics both ways. Lower nutrient availability can cause both the elevated costs of resistance (a direct effect of nutrient availability), and reduced benefits of resistance when population sizes of hosts and parasites are lower; i.e. indicating an indirect effect (Lopez Pascua *et al.*, 2014).

Better knowledge about the environmental factors influencing dynamics within hosts and parasites may also aid the development of means for improved protection against epizootics and epidemics (Grenfell and Dobson, 1995). Finally, in the light of global change, environmental factors have been shown to have consequences on changes in pathogen diversity and patterns of exposure for people and animals (Kutz *et al.*, 2005, Burek *et al.*, 2008, Hoberg and Brooks, 2013). For example, melted sea-ice area due to warming influences the abundance, distribution, seasonality, and interactions of marine and terrestrial species. One of the consequences is crowding during hauling out, higher disease transmission and finally increased mortality of hosts such as walruses (Post *et al.*, 2013). Thus, long-term evolutionary studies about host-parasite dynamics by using here developed tools will significantly contribute to future predictions of ecological scenarios.

## References

ADAMS, M. D., CELNIKER, S. E., HOLT, R. A., EVANS, C. A., GOCAYNE, J. D., AMANATIDES, P. G., SCHERER, S. E., LI, P. W., HOSKINS, R. A., GALLE, R. F., GEORGE, R. A., LEWIS, S. E., RICHARDS, S., ASHBURNER, M., HENDERSON, S. N., SUTTON, G. G., WORTMAN, J. R., YANDELL, M. D., ZHANG, Q., CHEN, L. X., BRANDON, R. C., ROGERS, Y.-H. C., BLAZEJ, R. G., CHAMPE, M., PFEIFFER, B. D., WAN, K. H., DOYLE, C., BAXTER, E. G., HELT, G., NELSON, C. R., GABOR, G. L., MIKLOS, ABRIL, J. F., AGBAYANI, A., AN, H.-J., ANDREWS-PFANNKOCH, C., BALDWIN, D., BALLEW, R. M., BASU, A., BAXENDALE, J., BAYRAKTAROGLU, L., BEASLEY, E. M., BEESON, K. Y., BENOS, P. V., BERMAN, B. P., BHANDARI, D., BOLSHAKOV, S., BORKOVA, D., BOTCHAN, M. R., BOUCK, J., BROKSTEIN, P., BROTTIER, P., BURTIS, K. C., BUSAM, D. A., BUTLER, H., CADIEU, E., CENTER, A., CHANDRA, I., CHERRY, J. M., CAWLEY, S., DAHLKE, C., DAVENPORT, L. B., DAVIES, P., PABLOS, B. D., DELCHER, A., DENG, Z., MAYS, A. D., DEW, I., DIETZ, S. M., DODSON, K., DOUP, L. E., DOWNES, M., DUGAN-ROCHA, S., DUNKOV, B. C., DUNN, P., DURBIN, K. J., EVANGELISTA, C. C., FERRAZ, C., FERRIERA, S., FLEISCHMANN, W., FOSLER, C., GABRIELIAN, A. E., GARG, N. S., GELBART, W. M., GLASSER, K., GLODEK, A., GONG, F., GORRELL, J. H., GU, Z., GUAN, P., HARRIS, M., HARRIS, N. L., HARVEY, D., HEIMAN, T. J., HERNANDEZ, J. R., HOUCK, J., HOSTIN, D., HOUSTON, K. A., HOWLAND, T. J., WEI, M.-H., et al. 2000. The genome sequence of Drosophila melanogaster. Science, 287, 2185-2195.

ARNOLD, M. L. 1997. *Natural hybridization and evolution*, Oxford UK, Oxford University Press. ARNOLD, M. L. & MEYER, A. 2006. Natural hybridization in primates: One evolutionary mechanism. *Zoology*, 109, 261-276.

BETTS, A., KALTZ, O. & HOCHBERG, M. E. 2014. Contrasted coevolutionary dynamics between a bacterial pathogen and its bacteriophages. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111, 11109-11114.

BILLIONES, R., BREHM, M., KLEE, J. & SCHWENK, K. 2004. Genetic identification of *Hyalodaphnia* species and interspecific hybrids. *Hydrobiologia*, 526, 43-53.

BITTNER, K. 2001. Parasitismus bei Daphnia im Bodensee. Ph.D. thesis, Germany.

BITTNER, K. 2002. Parasitism of Daphnia in Lake Greifensee. Internal report, 24.

BREDE, N., SANDROCK, C., STRAILE, D., SPAAK, P., JANKOWSKI, T., STREIT, B. &

SCHWENK, K. 2009. The impact of human-made ecological changes on the genetic architecture of

*Daphnia* species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106, 4758-4763.

BREDE, N., THIELSCH, A., SANDROCK, C., SPAAK, P., KELLER, B., STREIT, B. &

SCHWENK, K. 2006. Microsatellite markers for European *Daphnia*. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 6, 536-539.

BRENDONCK, L. & DE MEESTER, L. 2003. Egg banks in freshwater zooplankton: evolutionary and ecological archives in the sediment. *Hydrobiologia*, 491, 65-84.

BRENNER, S. 1974. The genetics of Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics, 77, 71-94.

BROCKHURST, M. A. & KOSKELLA, B. 2013. Experimental coevolution of species interactions. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 28, 367-375.

BUREK, K. A., GULLAND, F. M. D. & O'HARA, T. M. 2008. Effects of climate change on arctic marine mammal health. *Ecological Applications*, 18, S126-S134.

CAPELLA-GUTIÉRREZ, S., MARCET-HOUBEN, M. & GABALDÓN, T. 2012. Phylogenomics supports microsporidia as the earliest diverging clade of sequenced fungi. *BMC biology*, 10, 47. CARSON, E. W., TOBLER, M., MINCKLEY, W., AINSWORTH, R. J. & DOWLING, T. E. 2012. Relationships between spatio-temporal environmental and genetic variation reveal an important influence of exogenous selection in a pupfish hybrid zone. *Molecular ecology*, 21, 1209-1222. CHOI, Y., LEE, Y., CHO, K. S., LEE, S., RUSSELL, J., CHOI, J. & JEONG, G. 2011. Chimerical nature of the ribosomal RNA gene of a Nosema species. *Journal of invertebrate pathology*, 107, 86-89.

COLBOURNE, J., SINGAN, V. & GILBERT, D. 2005. wFleaBase: the *Daphnia* genome database. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 6, 45.

COUSYN, C., DE MEESTER, L., COLBOURNE, J. K., BRENDONCK, L., VERSCHUREN, D. & VOLCKAERT, F. 2001. Rapid, local adaptation of zooplankton behavior to changes in predation pressure in the absence of neutral genetic changes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98, 6256-6260.

CULUMBER, Z. W., FISHER, H. S., TOBLER, M., MATEOS, M., BARBER, P. H., SORENSON, M. D. & ROSENTHAL, G. G. 2011. Replicated hybrid zones of *Xiphophorus* swordtails along an elevational gradient. *Molecular ecology*, 20, 342-56.

DECAESTECKER, E., GABA, S., RAEYMAEKERS, J. A. M., STOKS, R., VAN KERCKHOVEN, L., EBERT, D. & DE MEESTER, L. 2007. Host-parasite "Red Queen" dynamics archived in pond sediment. *Nature*, 400, 870-873.

DECAESTECKER, E., LABBE, P., ELLEGAARD, K., ALLEN, J. E. & LITTLE, T. J. 2011.

Candidate innate immune system gene expression in the ecological model *Daphnia*. *Developmental and comparative immunology*, 35, 1066-1075.

DLOUHA, S., THIELSCH, A., KRAUS, R. H. S., SEDA, J., SCHWENK, K. & PETRUSEK, A. 2010. Identifying hybridizing taxa within the *Daphnia longispina* species complex: a comparison of genetic methods and phenotypic approaches. *Hydrobiologia*, 643, 107-122.

DUFFY, M. A., HALL, S. R., TESSIER, A. J. & HUEBNER, M. 2005. Selective predators and their parasitized prey: Are epidemics in zooplankton under top-down control? *Limnology and Oceanography*, 50, 412-420.

DUFFY, M. A., PERRY, L. J., KEARNS, C. M., WEIDER, L. J. & HAIRSTON, N. G. 2000.

Paleogenetic evidence for a past invasion of Onondaga Lake, New York, by exotic *Daphnia curvirostris* using mtDNA from dormant eggs. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 45, 1409-1414. DUNCAN, A. & LITTLE, T. J. 2007. Parasite-driven genetic change in a natural population of *Daphnia. Evolution*, 64, 796-803.

EBERT, D. 1994. Virulence and local adaptation of a horizontally transmitted parasite. *Science*, 265, 1084-1086.

EBERT, D. 1995. The ecological interactions between a microsporidian parasite and its host *Daphnia magna*. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 64, 361-369.

EBERT, D. 2005. Ecology, epidemiology, and evolution of parasitism in Daphnia [Internet],

Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US), National Center for Biotechnology Information.EBERT, D. 2008. Host-parasite coevolution: insights from the *Daphnia*-parasite model system.*Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 11, 1-12.

EBERT, D., CARIUS, H. J., LITTLE, T. & DECAESTECKER, E. 2004. The evolution of virulence when parasites cause host castration and gigantism. *American Naturalist*, 164, S19-S32.

EDGCOMB, V., ORSI, W., BUNGE, J., JEON, S., CHRISTEN, R., LESLIN, C., HOLDER, M., TAYLOR, G. T., SUAREZ, P. & VARELA, R. 2011. Protistan microbial observatory in the Cariaco Basin, Caribbean. I. Pyrosequencing vs Sanger insights into species richness. *The ISME journal*, 5, 1344-1356.

EKBLOM, R. & GALINDO, J. 2011. Applications of next generation sequencing in molecular ecology of non-model organisms. *Heredity*, 107, 1-15.

ERLICH, Y., MITRA, P. P., MCCOMBIE, W. R. & HANNON, G. J. 2008. Alta-Cyclic: a self-optimizing base caller for next-generation sequencing. *Nature methods*, *5*, 679-682.

FELS, D., LEE, V. A. & EBERT, D. 2004. The impact of microparasites on the vertical distribution of *Daphnia magna*. *Archiv Fur Hydrobiologie*, 161, 65-80.

FITZPATRICK, B. M. & SHAFFER, H. B. 2004. Environment-dependent admixture dynamics in a tiger salamander hybrid zone. *Evolution*, 58, 1282-93.

FORSMAN, A. 2014. Effects of genotypic and phenotypic variation on establishment are important for conservation, invasion, and infection biology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111, 302-307.

FRIEDRICH, C., WINDER, O., SCHAFFLER, K. & REINTHALER, F. F. 1996. Light and electron microscope study on *Gurleya daphniae* sp nov (Microspora, Gurleyidae), a parasite of *Daphnia pulex* (Crustacea, Phyllopoda). *European Journal of Protistology*, 32, 116-122.

FRISCH, D., MORTON, P. K., CHOWDHURY, P. R., CULVER, B. W., COLBOURNE, J. K.,

WEIDER, L. J. & JEYASINGH, P. D. 2014. A millennial-scale chronicle of evolutionary responses to cultural eutrophication in *Daphnia*. *Ecology letters*, 17, 360-368.

GABA, S. & EBERT, D. 2009. Time-shift experiments as a tool to study antagonistic coevolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24, 226-232.

GEE, J. M. 2004. Gene flow across a climatic barrier between hybridizing avian species, California and Gambel's quail (*Callipepla californica* and *C. gambelii*). *Evolution*, 58, 1108-21.

GEERTS, A. N., VANOVERBEKE, J., VANSCHOENWINKEL, B., VAN DOORSLAER, W.,

FEUCHTMAYR, H., ATKINSON, D., MOSS, B., DAVIDSON, T. A., SAYER, C. D. & DE

MEESTER, L. 2015. Rapid evolution of thermal tolerance in the water flea *Daphnia*. *Nature Climate Change*, 5, 665-668.

GIBSON, A. K., STOY, K. S., GELARDEN, I. A., PENLEY, M. J., LIVELY, C. M. & MORRAN,

L. T. 2015. The evolution of reduced antagonism—A role for host–parasite coevolution. *Evolution*, 69, 2820-2830.

GIEßLER, S. 1997. Analysis of reticulate relationships within the *Daphnia longispina* species complex. Allozyme phenotype and morphology. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 10, 87-105.

GIESSLER, S. & ENGLBRECHT, C. C. 2009. Dynamic reticulate evolution in a *Daphnia* multispecies complex. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part a-Ecological Genetics and Physiology*, 311A, 530-U3.

GIESSLER, S. & WOLINSKA, J. 2013. Capturing the population structure of microparasites: using ITS-sequence data and a pooled DNA approach. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 13, 918-928.

GÓMEZ, P. & BUCKLING, A. 2011. Bacteria-phage antagonistic coevolution in soil. *Science*, 332, 106-109.

GONZÁLEZ-TORTUERO, E., RUSEK, J., TURKO, P., PETRUSEK, A., MAAYAN, I., PIÁLEK, L., TELLENBACH, C., GIEßLER, S., SPAAK, P. & WOLINSKA, J. 2016. *Daphnia* parasite

dynamics across multiple *Caullerya* epidemics indicate selection against common parasite genotypes. *Zoology*.

GRANT, B. R. & GRANT, P. R. 1993. Evolution of Darwin's finches caused by a rare climatic event. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences*, 251, 111-117.

GRANT, B. R. & GRANT, P. R. 1996. High survival of Darwin's finch hybrids: Effects of beak morphology and diets. *Ecology*, 77, 500-509.

GRANT, P. R., GRANT, B. R., MARKERT, J. A., KELLER, L. F. & PETREN, K. 2004. Convergent evolution of Darwin's finches caused by introgressive hybridization and selection. *Evolution*, 58, 1588-99.

GRENFELL, B. T. & DOBSON, A. P. 1995. *Ecology of infectious diseases in natural populations*, Cambridge University Press.

HAAG, C. R., RIEK, M., HOTTINGER, J. W., PAJUNEN, V. I. & EBERT, D. 2005. Genetic diversity and genetic differentiation in Daphnia metapopulations with subpopulations of known age. *Genetics*, 170, 1809-1820.

HERSHKOVITZ, M. A. & LEWIS, L. A. 1996. Deep-level diagnostic value of the rDNA-ITS region. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 13, 1276-1295.

HOBERG, E. P. & BROOKS, D. R. 2013. 14 Episodic processes, invasion and faunal mosaics in evolutionary and ecological time. *The balance of nature and human impact*, 199.

HUANG, C.-H., CHANG, M.-T., HUANG, M.-C. & LEE, F.-L. 2011. Rapid identification of *Lactobacillus plantarum* group using the SNaPshot minisequencing assay. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 34, 586-589.

HUBER, J. A., WELCH, D. B. M., MORRISON, H. G., HUSE, S. M., NEAL, P. R.,

BUTTERFIELD, D. A. & SOGIN, M. L. 2007. Microbial population structures in the deep marine biosphere. *Science*, 318, 97-100.

HUSE, S. M., HUBER, J. A., MORRISON, H. G., SOGIN, M. L. & WELCH, D. M. 2007. Accuracy and quality of massively parallel DNA pyrosequencing. *Genome Biology*, 8, R143.

HUYSE, T., POULIN, R. & THERON, A. 2005. Speciation in parasites: a population genetics approach. *Trends in parasitology*, 21, 469-475.

JANSEN, M., COORS, A., STOKS, R. & DE MEESTER, L. 2011a. Evolutionary ecotoxicology of pesticide resistance: a case study in *Daphnia*. *Ecotoxicology*, 20, 543-551.

JANSEN, M., STOKS, R., COORS, A., VAN DOORSLAER, W. & DE MEESTER, L. 2011b. Collateral damage: Rapid exposure-induced evolution of pesticide resistance leads to increased susceptibility to parasites. *Evolution*, 65, 2681-2691. JOKELA, J., DYBDAHL, M. E. & LIVELY, C. M. 2009. The maintenance of sex, clonal dynamics, and host-parasite coevolution in a mixed population of sexual and asexual snails. *American Naturalist*, 174, S43-S53.

KASHIWAGI, A. & YOMO, T. 2011. Ongoing phenotypic and genomic changes in experimental coevolution of RNA bacteriophage  $Q\beta$  and *Escherichia coli*. *PLoS Genetics*, 7, e1002188.

KAUSERUD, H., KUMAR, S., BRYSTING, A. K., NORDÉN, J. & CARLSEN, T. 2012. High consistency between replicate 454 pyrosequencing analyses of ectomycorrhizal plant root samples. *Mycorrhiza*, 22, 309-315.

KAUTZ, S., RUBIN, B. E., RUSSELL, J. A. & MOREAU, C. S. 2013. Surveying the microbiome of ants: comparing 454 pyrosequencing with traditional methods to uncover bacterial diversity. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 79, 525-534.

KEEBAUGH, E. S. & SCHLENKE, T. A. 2014. Insights from natural host-parasite interactions: the *Drosophila* model. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 42, 111-23.

KELLER, B. & SPAAK, P. 2004. Nonrandom sexual reproduction and diapausing egg production in a *Daphnia* hybrid species complex. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 49, 1393-1400.

KELLER, B., WOLINSKA, J., MANCA, M. & SPAAK, P. 2008. Spatial, environmental and anthropogenic effects on the taxon composition of hybridizing *Daphnia*. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *363*(1505), pp.2943-2952.

KEOGH, C., SANDERSON, M. & BYERS, J. 2015. Local adaptation to parasite selective pressure: comparing three congeneric co-occurring hosts. *Oecologia*, 180, 1-11.

KERSTES, N. A., BÉRÉNOS, C., SCHMID-HEMPEL, P. & WEGNER, K. M. 2012. Antagonistic experimental coevolution with a parasite increases host recombination frequency. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 12, 1-9.

KING, K. C., DELPH, L. F., JOKELA, J. & LIVELY, C. M. 2009. The geographic mosaic of sex and the Red Queen. *Current Biology*, 19, 1438-1441.

KITPIPIT, T., TOBE, S. S., KITCHENER, A. C., GILL, P. & LINACRE, A. 2012. The development and validation of a single SNaPshot multiplex for tiger species and subspecies identification-

Implications for forensic purposes. Forensic Science International-Genetics, 6, 250-257.

KRÖBER, M., BEKEL, T., DIAZ, N. N., GOESMANN, A., JAENICKE, S., KRAUSE, L.,

MILLER, D., RUNTE, K. J., VIEHÖVER, P. & PÜHLER, A. 2009. Phylogenetic characterization of a biogas plant microbial community integrating clone library 16S-rDNA sequences and metagenome sequence data obtained by 454-pyrosequencing. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 142, 38-49.

KUTZ, S. J., HOBERG, E. P., POLLEY, L. & JENKINS, E. J. 2005. Global warming is changing the dynamics of Arctic host-parasite systems. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 272, 2571-6.

LAFFERTY, K. D., DOBSON, A. P. & KURIS, A. M. 2006. Parasites dominate food web links. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103, 11211-11216.

LAGUERRE, G., ALLARD, M. R., REVOY, F. & AMARGER, N. 1994. Rapid identification of *Rhizobia* by restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of PCR-amplified 16S rRNA genes. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 60, 56-63.

LARSSON, J. I. R., EBERT, D., MANGIN, K. L. & VÁVRA, J. 1998. Ultrastructural study and description of *Flabelliforma magnivora* sp n (Microspora : Duboscqiidae), a microsporidian parasite of *Daphnia magna* (Crustacea : Cladocera : Daphniidae). *Acta Protozoologica*, 37, 41-52.

LASS, S. & BITTNER, K. 2002. Facing multiple enemies: parasitised hosts respond to predator kairomones. *Oecologia*, 132, 344-349.

LASS, S. & EBERT, D. 2006. Apparent seasonality of parasite dynamics: analysis of cyclic prevalence patterns. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 273, 199-206.

LEWONTIN, R. C. & BIRCH, L. C. 1966. Hybridization as a source of variation for adaptation to new environments. *Evolution*, 20, 315-336.

LIANG, B., LUO, M., SCOTT-HERRIDGE, J., SEMENIUK, C., MENDOZA, M., CAPINA, R., SHEARDOWN, B., JI, H., KIMANI, J. & BALL, B. T. 2011. A comparison of parallel pyrosequencing and sanger clone-based sequencing and its impact on the characterization of the genetic diversity of HIV-1. *PloS one*, 6, e26745.

LITTLE, T. J. & EBERT, D. 1999. Associations between parasitism and host genotype in natural populations of *Daphnia* (Crustacea: Cladocera). *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 68, 134-149.

LIVELY, C. M. 2010. A review of Red Queen models for the persistence of obligate sexual reproduction. *Journal of Heredity*, 101, S13-S20.

LOHR, J., LAFORSCH, C., KOERNER, H. & WOLINSKA, J. 2010. A *Daphnia* parasite (*Caullerya mesnili*) constitutes a new member of the Ichthyosporea, a group of protists near the animal-fungi divergence. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 53, 328-336.

LOPEZ PASCUA, L., HALL, A. R., BEST, A., MORGAN, A. D., BOOTS, M. & BUCKLING, A. 2014. Higher resources decrease fluctuating selection during host–parasite coevolution. *Ecology letters*, 17, 1380-1388.

MARGULIES, M., EGHOLM, M., ALTMAN, W. E., ATTIYA, S., BADER, J. S., BEMBEN, L. A., BERKA, J., BRAVERMAN, M. S., CHEN, Y.-J. & CHEN, Z. 2005. Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors. *Nature*, 437, 376-380.

MASSAD, E. 1987. Transmission rates and the evolution of pathogenicity. *Evolution*, 41, 1127-1130. METSCHNIKOFF 1884. A disease of *Daphnia* caused by a yeast. A contribution to the theory of phagocytes as agents for attack on disease-causing organisms.

MEYER, J. R., DOBIAS, D. T., WEITZ, J. S., BARRICK, J. E., QUICK, R. T. & LENSKI, R. E. 2012. Repeatability and contingency in the evolution of a key innovation in phage lambda. *Science*, 335, 428-432.

MITCHELL, S. E., ROGERS, E. S., LITTLE, T. J. & READ, A. F. 2005. Host-parasite and genotype-by-environment interactions: Temperature modifies potential for selection by a sterilizing pathogen. *Evolution*, 59, 70-80.

MORRAN, L. T., SCHMIDT, O. G., GELARDEN, I. A., PARRISH, R. C. & LIVELY, C. M. 2011. Running with the Red Queen: Host-parasite coevolution selects for biparental sex. *Science*, 333, 216-218.

MURDOCK, C. C., PAAIJMANS, K. P., COX-FOSTER, D., READ, A. F. & THOMAS, M. B. 2012. Rethinking vector immunology: the role of environmental temperature in shaping resistance. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 10, 869-876.

NILSSON, R. H., KRISTIANSSON, E., RYBERG, M., HALLENBERG, N. & LARSSON, K.-H. 2008. Intraspecific ITS variability in the kingdom Fungi as expressed in the international sequence databases and its implications for molecular species identification. *Evolutionary bioinformatics online*, *4*, 193.

ORSINI, L., SCHWENK, K., DE MEESTER, L., COLBOURNE, J. K., PFRENDER, M. E. & WEIDER, L. J. 2013. The evolutionary time machine: using dormant propagules to forecast how populations can adapt to changing environments. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 28, 274-282.

OTA, M., FUKUSHIMA, H., KULSKI, J. K. & INOKO, H. 2007. Single nucleotide polymorphism detection by polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism. *Nature Protocols*, 2, 2857-2864.

PEDEN, E., KILLIAN, D. J. & XUE, D. 2008. Cell death specification in *C. elegans. Cell cycle*, 7, 2479-2484.

PETRUSEK, A., HOBAEK, A., NILSSEN, J. P., SKAGE, M., CERNY, M., BREDE, N. & SCHWENK, K. 2008. A taxonomic reappraisal of the European *Daphnia longispina* complex (Crustacea, Cladocera, Anomopoda). *Zoologica Scripta*, 37, 507-519.

PETRUSEK, A., SEDA, J., MACHACEK, J., RIHA, M., PRCHALOVA, M. & SCHWENK, K. 2013. Intraspecific spatial genetic differentiation of a *Daphnia* species within a long narrow reservoir. *Hydrobiologia*, 715, 169-180.

POSADA, D. & CRANDALL, K. A. 2002. The effect of recombination on the accuracy of phylogeny estimation. *Journal of molecular evolution*, 54, 396-402.

POST, E., BHATT, U. S., BITZ, C. M., BRODIE, J. F., FULTON, T. L., HEBBLEWHITE, M., KERBY, J., KUTZ, S. J., STIRLING, I. & WALKER, D. A. 2013. Ecological consequences of seaice decline. *Science*, 341, 519-524.

POULIN, R. 2011. Evolutionary ecology of parasites, Princeton university press.

RAFALUK, C., GILDENHARD, M., MITSCHKE, A., TELSCHOW, A., SCHULENBURG, H. & JOOP, G. 2015. Rapid evolution of virulence leading to host extinction under host-parasite coevolution. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 15, 1-10.

REFARDT, D., DECAESTECKER, E., JOHNSON, P. T. J. & VÁVRA, J. 2008. Morphology, molecular phylogeny, and ecology of *Binucleata daphniae* n. g., n. sp. (fungi: microsporidia), a parasite of *Daphnia magna* Straus, 1820 (Crustacea: Branchiopoda). *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 55, 393-408.

REID, V., CARVALHO, G., GEORGE, D. G. & GRIFFITHS, H. 2002. A technique for the molecular genetic analysis of Daphnia resting eggs from sub-recent lake sediments. *Journal of Paleolimnology*, 27, 481-486.

RENAUD, G., KIRCHER, M., STENZEL, U. & KELSO, J. 2013. freeIbis: an efficient basecaller with calibrated quality scores for Illumina sequencers. *Bioinformatics*, btt117.

RIESEBERG, L. H., KIM, S.-C., RANDELL, R. A., WHITNEY, K. D., GROSS, B. L., LEXER, C. & CLAY, K. 2007. Hybridization and the colonization of novel habitats by annual sunflowers. *Genetica*, 129, 149-165.

ROUGEMONT, J., AMZALLAG, A., ISELI, C., FARINELLI, L., XENARIOS, I. & NAEF, F. 2008. Probabilistic base calling of Solexa sequencing data. *BMC bioinformatics*, 9, 431.

ROUTTU, J. & EBERT, D. 2015. Genetic architecture of resistance in *Daphnia* hosts against two species of host-specific parasites. *Heredity*, 114, 241-248.

RUSEK, J., KLUMPLEROVA, M., MOLINKOVA, D., SEDLINSKA, M., DUSEK, L., MUZIK, J., PUTNOVA, L., VRTKOVA, I., CELER, V. & HORIN, P. 2013. Genetics of anti-EHV antibody responses in a horse population. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 95, 137-142.

SADD, B. M. & SCHMID-HEMPEL, P. 2009. Principles of ecological immunology. *Evolutionary Applications*, 2, 113-121.

SCHAFER, W. R. 2005. Deciphering the neural and molecular mechanisms of *C. elegans* behavior. *Current Biology*, 15, R723-R729.

SCHULTE, R. D., MAKUS, C. & SCHULENBURG, H. 2013. Host–parasite coevolution favours parasite genetic diversity and horizontal gene transfer. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 26, 1836-1840.

SCHWENK, K. & SPAAK, P. 1997. Ecology and genetics of interspecific hybridization in *Daphnia*. *In:* STREIT, B., STÄDLER, T. & LIVELY, C. M. (eds.) *Evolutionary ecology of freshwater animals*. Basel: Birkhäuser Verlag.

SEDA, J., KOLAROVA, K., PETRUSEK, A. & MACHACEK, J. 2007. Daphnia galeata in the deep hypolimnion: spatial differentiation of a "typical epilimnetic" species. *Hydrobiologia*, 594, 47-57. SEEHAUSEN, O., VANALPHEN, J. J. M. & WITTE, F. 1997. Cichlid fish diversity threatened by

eutrophication that curbs sexual selection. *Science*, 277, 1808-1811. SELKOE, K. A. & TOONEN, R. J. 2006. Microsatellites for ecologists: a practical guide to using and

evaluating microsatellite markers. *Ecology Letters*, 9, 615-629.

SPAAK, P. 1996. Temporal changes in the genetic structure of the *Daphnia* species complex in Tjeukemeer, with evidence for backcrossing. *Heredity*, 76, 539-548.

STARR, D. J. & CLINE, T. W. 2002. A host-parasite interaction rescues *Drosophila oogenesis* defects. *Nature*, 418, 76-79.

STIRNADEL, H. A. & EBERT, D. 1997. Prevalence, host specificity and impact on host fecundity of microparasites and epibionts in three sympatric *Daphnia* species. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 66, 212-222.

STOLLEWERK, A. 2010. The water flea *Daphnia*-a'new'model system for ecology and evolution? *Journal of Biology*, 9, 21.

TAYLOR, D. J., HEBERT, P. D. N. & COLBOURNE, J. K. 1996. Phylogenetics and evolution of the *Daphnia longispina* group (Crustacea) based on 12S rDNA sequence and allozyme variation. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, *5*, 495-510.

TAYLOR, D. J., SPRENGER, H. L. & ISHIDA, S. 2005. Geographic and phylogenetic evidence for dispersed nuclear introgression in a daphniid with sexual propagules. *Molecular Ecology*, 14, 525-537.

TEDERSOO, L., NILSSON, R. H., ABARENKOV, K., JAIRUS, T., SADAM, A., SAAR, I., BAHRAM, M., BECHEM, E., CHUYONG, G. & KÕLJALG, U. 2010. 454 Pyrosequencing and Sanger sequencing of tropical mycorrhizal fungi provide similar results but reveal substantial methodological biases. *New Phytologist*, 188, 291-301.

TEMPLETON, A. R., CRANDALL, K. A. & SING, C. F. 1992. A cladistic analysis of phenotypic associations with haplotypes inferred from restriction endonuclease mapping and DNA sequence data. III. Cladogram estimation. *Genetics*, 132, 619-633.

THIELSCH, A., BREDE, N., PETRUSEK, A., DE MEESTER, L. & SCHWENK, K. 2009.

Contribution of cyclic parthenogenesis and colonization history to population structure in *Daphnia*. *Molecular Ecology*, 18, 1616-1628.

VÁVRA, J. & LARSSON, J. I. R. 1994. *Berwaldia schaefernai* (Jiroves, 1937) comb. n. (Protozoa, Microsporida), fine-structure, life-cycle, and relationship to *Berwaldia singularis* Larsson, 1981. *European Journal of Protistology*, 30, 45-54.

VENETI, Z., CLARK, M. E., KARR, T. L., SAVAKIS, C. & BOURTZIS, K. 2004. Heads or tails: host-parasite interactions in the Drosophila-Wolbachia system. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 70, 5366-5372.

VERGARA, D., JOKELA, J. & LIVELY, C. M. 2014. Infection dynamics in coexisting sexual and asexual host populations: support for the Red Queen hypothesis. *The American Naturalist*, 184 Suppl 1, S22-30.

VORONIN, V. N. 1996. Ultrastructure and horizontal transmission of *Gurleya macrocyclopis* (Protozoa, Microspora) to *Macrocylops albidus* (Crustacea, Copepoda). *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, 67, 105-107.

VOSSBRINCK, C. R., ANDREADIS, T. G., VÁVRA, J. & BECNEL, J. J. 2004. Molecular phylogeny and evolution of mosquito parasitic microsporidia (Microsporidia: Amblyosporidae) *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 51, 259-261.

WEIGL, S., KOERNER, H., PETRUSEK, A., SEDA, J. & WOLINSKA, J. 2012. Natural distribution and co-infection patterns of microsporidia parasites in the *Daphnia longispina* complex *Parasitology*.
WOLF, H. G. & MORT, M. A. 1986. Interspecific hybridization underlies phenotypic variability in *Daphnia* populations. *Oecologia*, 68, 507-511.

WOLINSKA, J., BITTNER, K., EBERT, D. & SPAAK, P. 2006. The coexistence of hybrid and parental *Daphnia*: the role of parasites. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 273, 1977-1983.

WOLINSKA, J., GIESSLER, S. & KOERNER, H. 2009. Molecular identification and hidden diversity of novel *Daphnia* parasites from European lakes. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75, 7051-7059.

WOLINSKA, J., KELLER, B., MANCA, M. & SPAAK, P. 2007. Parasite survey of a *Daphnia* hybrid complex: host-specificity and environment determine infection. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 76, 191-200.

WOLINSKA, J. & KING, C. E. 2009. Environment can alter selection in host-parasite interactions. *Trends in Parasitology*, 25, 236-244.

WOLINSKA, J., KING, K., VIGNEUX, F. & LIVELY, C. 2008. Virulence, cultivating conditions, and phylogenetic analyses of oomycete parasites in *Daphnia. Parasitology*, 135, 1667-1678.
WOLINSKA, J., PETRUSEK, A., YIN, M., KOERNER, H., SEDA, J. & GIESSLER, S. 2014.
Population structure of a microparasite infecting *Daphnia*: spatio-temporal dynamics. *BMC evolutionary biology*, 14, 247.

WOLINSKA, J., SEDA, J., KOERNER, H., SMILAUER, P. & PETRUSEK, A. 2011a. Spatial variation of Daphnia parasite load within individual waterbodies. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 33, 1284-1294.

WOLINSKA, J. & SPAAK, P. 2009. The cost of being common: evidence from natural *Daphnia* populations. *Evolution*, 63, 1893-1901.

WOLINSKA, J., SPAAK, P., KOERNER, H., PETRUSEK, A., SEDA, J. & GIESSLER, S. 2011b. Transmission mode affects the population genetic structure of *Daphnia* parasites. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 24, 265-273.

YIN, M., LAFORSCH, C., LOHR, J. & WOLINSKA, J. 2011. Predator-induced defence makes *Daphnia* more vulnerable to parasites. *Evolution*, 65, 1482-1488.

YIN, M., WOLINSKA, J. & GIESSLER, S. 2010. Clonal diversity, clonal persistence and rapid taxon replacement in natural populations of species and hybrids of the *Daphnia longispina* complex. *Molecular Ecology*, 19, 4168-4178.

## **Authors Contribution**

#### Chapter 2:

J. Wolinska and P. Spaak supervised the project. J. Rusek and J. Wolinska designed the study, S. Giessler and J. Wolinska selected reference clones. J. Rusek designed the workflow of SNP discovery. P. Turko performed the mapping of the transcriptome and optimized historical samples DNA extraction protocol from formaldehyde. J. Rusek, G. Ayan and C. Tellenbach developed and analysed the SNP markers. J. Rusek and G. Ayan developed the PCR-RFLP assay, and tested historical samples. G. Ayan performed the "Large-scale" analysis. S. Giessler constructed FCA plots. J.Rusek drafted the manuscript.

#### Chapter 3:

J. Wolinska and A. Petrusek designed the study. J.Rusek designed sequencing primers and established the PCR protocol and amplified the samples for the study. A. Petrusek prepared and performed the pyrosequencing reactions. E. Gonzalez-Tortuero developed the QRS pipeline. D. Lyras, S. Grath and F. Castro -Monzon contributed to the development of QRS pipeline in earlier stages. E. Gonzalez-Tortuero, with the help of S. Giessler performed statistical analyses and, together with J. Wolinska, S. Giessler and A. Petrusek wrote the manuscript. D. Lyras and S. Grath helped with writing the Supporting Information.

#### Chapter 4:

J. Rusek and J. Wolinska designed the study. A. Petrusek contributed to sampling. J. Rusek designed sequencing primers, and J. Rusek and I. Maayan established and carried out the PCR protocol. L. Pialek and A. Petrusek designed, and L. Pialek performed the pyrosequencing reactions. E. Gonzalez-Tortuero performed all bioinformatics and statistical analyses. S. Laurent contributed to the interpretation of the genetic tests' results. E. Gonzalez-Tortuero and J. Wolinska wrote the manuscript, with comments and editing by A. Petrusek and I. Maayan.

## **Statutory Declaration and Statement**

#### Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich versichere hiermit an Eides statt, dass die vorgelegte Dissertation von mir selbständig und ohne unerlaubte Hilfe angefertigt ist.

Jakub Rusek

(Unterschrift)

#### Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich, \*

X dass die Dissertation nicht ganz oder in wesentlichen Teilen einer anderen Prüfungskommission vorgelegt worden ist.

 dass ich mich anderweitig einer Doktorpr
üfung ohne Erfolg nicht unterzogen habe.

(Hochschule/Universität)

.....

unterzogen habe.

dass ich ohne Erfolg versucht habe, eine Dissertation einzureichen oder mich der Doktorpr
üfung zu unterziehen.

1.11.16 München, den	Jakub Rusek	
	/Unterschrift)	

\*) Nichtzutreffendes streichen

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Justyna Wolinska for the opportunity to conduct my PhD thesis in this field. I thank her for guidance, personal empathy and for the freedom of choice. I was allowed to pursue scientific projects I was interested in the most, I had the opportunity to supervise numerous students, which thought me leadership skills and patience.

I am thankful to Sabine Radetzki, for all the technical support in the laboratory. Without her special skills and talent, the experiments would be much more difficult to achieve. I am also grateful to Dr. Sabine Giessler, Dr. Piet Spaak, Prof. Dr. Adam Petrusek, Dr. Christoph Tellenbach, Patrick Turko, Enrique Gonzalez-Tortuerro and Hannes Imhof for ideas, insides, discussions and all their effort resulting in successful collaboration. I thank Johanna Griebel for all her help with administrative issues and finally all my students for the effort and persistence they have demonstrated.

I am deeply grateful to my family (especially my parents Maria and Jozef) for all the support they have provided during all these years. Without them I would be hardly able to pursue my dreams and visions.

Looking into past, I want to express my gratitude to Prof. RNDr.et MVDr. Petr Horin. He was the supervisor of my Master thesis, but the inspiration I got from him lasts. He taught me the patience and persistence, the importance to keep broadening the knowledge every day and beyond the single professional field. The importance of that is vast, which grew even more during my work assignments in Brussels in the field of European affairs.

Finally, I want to thank Chrysanthi Vazitari. She always believed in me and she tried to make my life easier, so I can complete the final steps of the PhD. Without her support and looking after my duties while I was writing, I would not be able to finish.

## Curriculum Vitae

#### Jakub Rusek

#### **Publications**

#### **Peer-reviewed publications:**

Imhof H., Rusek J., Thiel M., Wolinska J., Laforsch C (2016) Do microplastic particles affect *Daphnia magna* at the morphology, life history and molecular level?. PloS one. submitted.

Gonzalez-Tortuero E., Rusek J., Turko P., Petrusek A., Maayan I., Pialek L., Tellenbach C., Giesler S., Spaak P., Wolinska J. (2016) *Daphnia* parasite dynamics across multiple *Caullerya* epidemics indicate selection against common genotypes in a Central European lake. *Zoology*. In press.

González-Tortuero E., Rusek J., Maayan I., Petrusek A., Piálek L., Laurent S., Wolinska J., 2016. Genetic diversity of two Daphnia-infecting microsporidian parasites, based on sequence variation in the internal transcribed spacer region. *Parasites & vectors*, *9*(1), p.1.

Rusek J., Ayan G.B., Turko P., Tellenbach C., Giessler S., Spaak P., Wolinska J., 2015. New possibilities arise for studies of hybridization: SNP-based markers for the multispecies Daphnia longispina complex derived from transcriptome data. *Journal of Plankton Research*, *37*(3), pp.626-635.

González-Tortuero E., Rusek J., Petrusek A., Gießler S., Lyras D., Grath S., Castro-Monzón F., Wolinska J., 2015. The Quantification of Representative Sequences pipeline for amplicon sequencing: case study on within-population ITS1 sequence variation in a microparasite infecting Daphnia. *Molecular ecology resources*, *15*(6), pp.1385-1395.

Rusek, J., Klumplerová, M., Molinková, D., Sedlinská, M., Dusek, L., Muzik, J., Putnova, L., Vrtková, I., Celer, V., Horin, P., 2013. Genetics of anti-EHV antibody responses in a horse population. *Research in veterinary science*, *95*(1), pp.137-142.

#### **Policy report:**

Rusek J., 2016. The New Olympic Golf Course: Risks vs. Benefits? *Politheor: European Policy Network SPECIAL REPORT Rio 2016: Perspectives beyond the megaevent, pp.* 28-29

#### **Posters:**

Rusek J, Tellenbach C, Ayan G, Turko P, Theodosiu L, Giessler S, Spaak P, Wolinska J (2013) "Unlocking poor quality Daphnia samples by SNP genotyping" DZG 2013, September 13-16, Munich, Germany

Rusek J, Tellenbach C, Ayan G, Turko P, Theodosiu L, Giessler S, Spaak P, Wolinska J (2013) "Unlocking poor quality Daphnia samples by SNP genotyping" ESEB 2013, August 19-24, Lisbon, Portugal

Rusek J, Giessler S, Wolinska J (2013) "Development of qPCR assay to quantify infection load of natural Daphnia populations" <interact> 2013, March 21-22, Munich, Germany, Book of abstracts, p. 56.

Rusek J, Giessler S, Wolinska J, Turko P, Tellenbach C, Spaak P (2012) "Access to poor quality Daphnia samples – a novel SNP based approach" DZG 2012, September 21-24, Konstanz, Germany, Book of abstracts, p. 234.

Rusek J, Vranová M, Molinková D, Sedlinská M, Dušek L, Mužík J, Putnová L, Vrtková I, Celer V, Hořín P (2011) "Genetics of anti-EHV-1 post-vaccination antibody response in the horse". 9th Dorothy Russell Havemayer Foundation International Equine Genome Mapping Workshop, July 27-30, Oak Ridge Conference Center, Chaska, Minnesota. Book of Abstracts, p. 35.

Sabetta W, Crosatti C, Rusek J, Blanco A, Montemurro C. (2011) "*Agrobacterium*mediated transformation in durum wheat". 3rd Workshop on TritiGen COST Action FA0604: Triteceae Genomics for The Advancement of Essential European Crops, May 3-7, Istanbul, p41.

\*detailed information upon request